IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LEROY B. REEVES,

Petitioner,

vs.

FSC CASE NO. 06-504

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JAMES S. PURDY PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

SUSAN A. FAGAN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0845566 444 Seabreeze Boulevard, Suite 210 Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (386) 252-3367

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State originally charged the Petitioner, Leroy Reeves, in an information filed on February 17, 1999, with burglary of a structure, grand theft, resisting a law enforcement officer with violence, and battery on a law enforcement officer. (SR¹ 58-60; Vol. 2) After proceeding to a jury trial, and being found guilty of each of the aforementioned offenses, the Petitioner was sentenced by Circuit Court Judge Mark J. Hill, to <u>consecutive</u> five year incarceration terms for each of the aforementioned offenses on April 9, 2001. (SR 65-79; Vol. 1) Specifically, the trial court sentenced the Petitioner for the resisting a law enforcement officer with violence offense as a prison release reoffender. (PRR) (SR 63-64; Vol. 1)

The Petitioner filed in the trial court a pro se motion to correct his illegal sentence on April 2, 2004. (R 1-4; Vol. I) Upon a preliminary hearing being

scheduled by Circuit Court Judge T. Michael Johnson on June 17, 2004, the Public Defender was appointed and represented the Petitioner during the subsequent June 30, 2004, hearing on the Appellant's motion to correct an illegal sentence held before Circuit Court Judge Mark J. Hill. (R 13, 31-52; Vol. I) At the conclusion of the June 30, 2004, hearing, Judge Hill denied the Petitioner's motion to correct an illegal sentence, specifically finding that the instant charged burglary and grand theft offenses were completed prior to the Petitioner's commission of the additional charged offenses of resisting a law enforcement officer with violence and battery upon a law enforcement officer. (R 23, 50; Vol. I)

Appellant timely filed a notice of appeal on July 1, 2004. (R 14; Vol. I) The Office of the Public Defender was appointed to represent the Petitioner in this appeal on July 6, 2004. (R 21-22; Vol. I)

The Petitioner filed, through undersigned appellate counsel, a motion to correct sentencing error on December 5, 2004. (SR 82-116; Vol. 3) The trial court held a hearing on the Petitioner's motion to correct sentencing error on January 25, 2005. (SR 126-130; Vol. 4) At the conclusion of the hearing, the trial court denied the Petitioner's motion to correct sentencing error. (SR 117-120; Vol. 3; SR 129-130; Vol. 4)

¹ SR = Supplemental record.

On appeal, the Petitioner challenged the trial court's determination that two separate criminal episodes occurred and the four consecutive five year incarceration terms. The Fifth District appellate Court issued a decision in *Reeves* v. State, 920 So.2d 724 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006), which affirmed each the Petitioner's sentences and held that there were two separate criminal episodes, the first being when the burglary and grand theft offenses occurred together, followed by the second being when the resisting a law enforcement officer with violence and a battery on a law enforcement officer offenses were committed together. The Fifth District, however, acknowledged that its decision conflicts with the holding in the decision of the Second District Appellate Court in Rodriguez v. State, 883 So.2d 908 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004), *Rodriguez* held that under principles of double jeopardy, a defendant may not be sentenced to consecutive incarceration terms as a prison release reoffender (PRR) and under the criminal punishment code (CPC) for multiple offenses which occur during a single criminal episode.

The Petitioner filed a notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court on March 13, 2006. This Court accepted jurisdiction in this case in an order dated July 12, 2006.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Officer Denys Neff testified that on the early morning of January 29, 1999, she responded to an alarm going off at a Chevron gas station and noticed, upon her arrival at the store, two vehicles, a Cadillac and a Ford, parked in front of the store. $(T^2 23-25; Vol. V)$ Officer Neff further testified that she then observed a broken window and a male individual bending underneath the bar across the broken window with a box in his hand. (T 25; Vol. V) This male individual, once he became aware of Officer Neff, dropped the box and ran towards the back of the two vehicles. (T 25-26; Vol. V)

Officer Neff next testified that she saw two other male individuals appear from behind the Cadillac vehicle that had the trunk opened. (T 26-27; Vol. V) These two male individuals, according to Officer Neff, then ran towards Tabbins Street and across the front of the Chevron Store, following the first male individual. (T 27-28; Vol. V) It was at this point, according to Officer Neff, that the two male individuals then ran back behind the Chevron Store, followed by one of these male individuals running into the woods and the other getting into the small green Ford vehicle. (T 28-29; Vol. V) As the male individual in the Ford

 $^{^{2}}$ T= Trial testimony reflected in the trial transcripts for the instant charge offenses which are included in the supplemental record in the instant appellate record as volume V and VI.

vehicle proceeded onto Tabbins Street, it began to slow down as Officer Neff pursued the vehicle. (T 29-30; Vol. V) Officer Neff additionally testified that she eventually observed that male individual exit the driver's side door of the vehicle, while the vehicle continued to roll forward pinning the male individual between the hedge as he ran in front of the vehicle. (T 30; Vol. V) This permitted Officer Neff to observe the individual's head, torso, and his right arm. (T 30; Vol. V) It also prompted Officer Neff to draw her weapon and to tell the male individual to "stay down" as he attempted to wiggle free. (T 30-31; Vol. V)

As the male individual continued to wiggle out from the vehicle, Officer Neff grabbed his shoulder just when he wiggled completely out from the vehicle and grabbed her arm. (T 31; Vol. V) Officer Neff additionally testified that they were standing face-to-face at this point and continued to wrestle as they both eventually broke away from each other. (T 31-32; Vol. V) Officer Neff then again attempted to get a hold of the male individual by grabbing onto his jacket, but the male individual wiggled free from his jacket and took off into a wooded area. (T 31-32; Vol. V) Officer Neff estimated that she was face-to-face with the male individual while they were wrestling for approximately a minute and a half to two minutes. (T 32; Vol. V) Officer Neff also identified the Petitioner, in court, as the individual she wrestled with prior to him fleeing into the nearby woods. (T 32-35; Vol. V)

Officer Neff additionally testified that she immediately returned to the Chevron store to wait for a K-9 unit to arrive at the scene and observed the closed store with the front glass window broken, cigarette cartons sprawled on the floor, and the trunk of the parked Cadillac vehicle packed full with cigarette cartons. (T 34-36; Vol. V) At this point, according to Officer Neff, another male individual is located by Officer Brent Hales. (T 37; Vol. V) The Petitioner was later located by Officer Brent Hales and was taken to the Chevron store where he was identified by Officer Neff as the suspect individual she wrestled with. (T 36-38; Vol. V) The Petitioner was then wearing a pink shirt, which appeared to be too small for him, wet, sweaty, with leaves and dirt in his hair, and with some scratch marks and dirt on the rest of his body. (T 37-39; Vol. V) Finally, Officer Neff testified that, in her mind, there were three suspects she observed at the Chevron store when she first arrived at the scene. (T 45-50; Vol. V)

Officer Brent Hales testified that he responded to the Chevron store and began tracking, with his K-9 unit, from the location where the suspect, who struggled with Officer Neff, dropped a piece of clothing on the ground before going into the woods. (T 59-63; Vol. V) Officer Hales further testified that he and the K-9 unit proceeded into the wooded area, up to a body of water, and then resumed the K-9 search on the other side of the body of water until the K-9 unit reached an open wooded field. (T 63-65; Vol. V) Officer Hales also observed footprints that resembled work boots in the sand in the area leading away from the water. (T 65-66; Vol. V)

Officer George Whitaker testified that he responded to the Chevron store after the report of a possible burglary at that location, as backup for Officer Neff, by proceeding on Montclair Road. (T 70-71; Vol. V) Officer Whitaker further testified he had heard over the police radio that the burglary suspects had gone into the woods, so he set up a perimeter and first came into contact with a male suspect on Montclair Street, who met the description of one of the burglary suspects. (T 72-74; Vol. V) This individual, according to Officer Whitaker, ran towards the west side of a building, hid in some tall grass, then gave several names upon being arrested, but was ultimately driven by another police officer to the police station and booked as John Doe. (T 74-75; Vol. V)

Officer Whitaker next testified that he remained at the established perimeter to look for the second suspect and proceeded to the corner of Thomas and Main Streets where he observed an individual walking into a store who appeared to have some cuts and scratches on his arm, as well as wet pants, muddy shoes, and grass over his body. (T 75-76; Vol. V) Finally, Officer Whitaker testified that the suspect he detained was the Petitioner who Officer Neff also identified as the burglary suspect she wrestled with. (T 76-80; Vol. V)

Yan Chen testified that she was the owner of the Chevron store on January 29th, 1999, when she was notified by his security company that the alarm had gone off at the store. (T 89; Vol. V) Yan further testified that she drove to the store and observed that the store's glass door was broken, a vehicle parked in the front of the store, and approximately six cases of cigarettes in the vehicle's back trunk. (T 90; Vol. V) Finally, Yan testified that she estimated the value of the cigarettes taken from the store to be approximately \$12,000.00, and that they were. (T 90-91; Vol. V)

Detective Pete Ahern testified that he arrived at the Chevron store after the incident and observed a green Pontiac Aspire and a brown and/or maroon Cadillac parked in the front of the store with the trunk opened, containing two or three boxes filled with cartons of cigarettes, and the front glass door of the store broken with glass all over the ground around the door. (T 93-94; Vol. V) Detective Ahern further testified that the crime scene was photographed and processed for fingerprints, including both vehicles at the scene. (T 94-95; Vol. V) According to Detective Ahern, latent fingerprints were recovered from both vehicles and that it was learned the green Pontiac vehicle was a rental vehicle from Tampa, Florida. (T 95-98; Vol. V) Finally, Detective Ahern testified that the value of the

cigarettes, based on Ms. Chen's prior store inventory, was over \$300.00 and that he observed on the top sliding door of an ice cream freezer in the store a distinctive shoe print that appeared to him, similar to the Petitioner's shoes, which he also observed. (T 98-99; Vol. V)

Sheala McBee, the Lake County Sheriff Office Fingerprint Examiner, testified she examined some of the latent fingerprints recovered from the green Pontiac, one of which recovered from above the passenger door handle, belonged to the Petitioner. (T 106-112; Vol. V) Ms. McBee further testified that the Petitioner's fingerprint was matched with a latent fingerprint lifted from the gas tank door of the Cadillac. (T 113; Vol. V) Finally, Ms. McBee testified that the Appellant could not be identified as the individual who left the remaining 19 latent fingerprints recovered from the crime scene. (T 113-115; Vol. V)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

<u>POINT ONE</u>: The Fifth District Appellate Court erroneously held below that <u>two</u> separate criminal episodes occurred during the Petitioner's commission of the four offenses he was convicted of in the instant case. The series of events which encompassed the four charged offenses were tied together by time and location so that each of the four offenses were part of one continuous and interrupted criminal episode. The Fifth District, however, improperly found that the Petitioner's encounter with one law enforcement officer, just as the commission of the grand theft and burglary of the convenience store were still in progress, was a separate event merely because it took place just outside the convenience store. Without any temporal break during the commission of all four offenses, however, they clearly occurred as part of a single criminal episode.

<u>POINT TWO</u>: The Fifth District Appellate Court erroneously held that a sentence imposed under Section 775.082(9), Florida Statutes (1999), as a "prison releasee reoffender" (PRR) was <u>not</u> an "enhanced" sentence, but merely a "minimum mandatory" sentence, which permitted a <u>consecutive</u> sentence to be imposed by the trial court under the Florida Criminal Punishment Code (CPC) for a separately committed criminal offense, even though it occurred during the same single criminal episode. This Court in *Hale v. State*, 630 So.2d 521 (Fla. 1993), and

10

Daniels v. State, 595 So.2d 952 (Fla. 1992), has definitely held where the legislature has expressed its intent to increase the punishment under the applicable sentencing statute, the enhancement "is satisfied when the maximum sentence for each offense is increased." Thus, because Petitioner's Prison Releasee (PRR) Reoffender sentence clearly was increased to the maximum sentence imposed by the trial court under Section 775.082(9), to be served "day for day" and, when combined with the Petitioner's Criminal Punishment Code (CPC) consecutively running sentences, as noted in *Rodriguez v. State*, 883 So.2d 908, 910 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2004), it exceeds total maximum sentence the Petitioner could have received under the PRR sentencing enhancement statute. The Fifth District, therefore, erroneously held that the Petitioner's total "blended" 20 year "hybrid" sentence of a 5 year Prison Release Reoffender (PRR) incarceration sentence, followed by three consecutive 5 year Criminal Punishment Code (CPC) incarceration sentences, is a legal sentence that merely includes a 5 year "minimum" mandatory provision.

ARGUMENT

POINT ONE

THE FIFTH DISTRICT ERRONEOUSLY FOUND TWO SEPARATE CRIMINAL EPISODES OCCURRED AS TO THE PETITIONER'S COMMISSION OF THE FOUR CHARGED OFFENSES.

The State originally charged the Petitioner, Leroy Reeves, in an information filed on February 17, 1999, with burglary of a structure, grand theft, resisting a law enforcement officer with violence, and battery on a law enforcement officer. (SR 58-60; Vol. II) After proceeding to a jury trial and being found guilty of each of the aforementioned offenses, the Petitioner was sentenced by Circuit Court Judge Mark J. Hill, to a <u>twenty year</u> incarceration term by imposing <u>consecutive</u> five year incarceration terms for <u>each</u> of the aforementioned offenses on April 9, 2001. (SR 65-79; Vol. II) Specifically, the trial court sentenced the Petitioner, as to the resisting a law enforcement officer with violence offense, as a prison releasee reoffender. (PRR) (SR 63-64; Vol. II) The remaining offenses were sentenced by the trial court under the Florida Criminal Punishment Code. (CPC) (SR 67-79 Vo. II)

The Petitioner filed a pro se motion to correct his illegal sentence on April 2, 2004. (R 1-4; Vo. I) Upon a preliminary hearing being scheduled by Circuit Court

Judge T. Michael Johnson on June 17, 2004, the Public Defender was appointed and represented the Petitioner during the subsequent June 30, 2004, hearing on the Appellant's motion to correct an illegal sentence before Circuit Court Judge Mark J. Hill. (R 13, 31-52; Vol. 1) At the conclusion of the June 30, 2004, hearing, Judge Hill denied the Petitioner's motion to correct an illegal sentence, specifically finding that the instant charged burglary and grand theft offenses were completed <u>prior</u> to the Petitioner's commission of the additionally charged offenses of resisting a law enforcement officer with violence and battery upon a law enforcement officer.

(R 23, 50; Vo. I)

The Petitioner filed, through undersigned appellate counsel, a motion to correct sentencing error on December 5, 2004. (SR 82-116; Vol. III) The trial court held a hearing on the Petitioner's motion to correct sentencing error on January 25, 2005. (SR 126-130; Vol. IV) At the conclusion of the hearing, the trial court denied the Petitioner's motion to correct sentencing error. (SR 117-120; Vol. 3; SR 129-130; Vol. IV) On appeal, the Petitioner argued that a <u>single</u> criminal episode occurred during the Petitioner's commission of all <u>four</u> charged offenses. The Fifth District found that <u>two</u> separate criminal episodes occurred, namely, that the burglary of the convenience store and grand theft of the cigarettes

in the convenience store occurred together before the battery and the resisting with violence were committed by the Petitioner on Officer Denys Neff. *Reeves v. State*, 920 So.2d 724, 725 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006).

The applicable standard of appellate review as to whether the trial court has improperly sentenced the Petitioner under the prison releasee reoffender (PRR) statute is *de novo*. *Powell v. State*, 881 So.l2d 1180 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004) Further, this Court in *Wilson v. State*, 467 So.2d 966 (Fla. 1985), held that a single continuous criminal episode occurred in that case <u>even though the sole victim was</u> confronted by the defendant, as the victim attempted to enter her apartment, then forced into the defendant's vehicle, driven a short distance, and raped. The key focus for the determination of a single, continuous episode was whether there was a <u>temporal break</u> in the chain of ongoing criminal activity and whether the separate criminal activity occurred at a different <u>location</u>. *Id*. <u>See Also Spivey v. State</u>, 789 So.2d 1087 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001), and *Macias v. State*, 673 So.2d 176 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996).

<u>Sub judice</u>, the testimony presented during the trial below clearly establishes that each of the Petitioner's offenses occurred during a <u>single criminal episode</u>, without any temporal break in the Petitioner's actions. Specifically, according to Officer Denys Neff's testimony, she arrived at the Chevron gas station/convenience store and noticed two vehicles parked in front of the store. (T 23-25; Vol. V) At this same time, Officer Neff further testified that she observed a broken window and a male individual, bending underneath the bar across the broken convenience store window with a box in his hand. (T 25; Vo. V) Once this individual became aware of Officer Neff, he dropped the box and ran towards the back of the two vehicles. (T 25-26; Vo. V)

Officer Neff next testified that she saw two other male individuals, one of whom was the Petitioner, appear from behind one of the two parked vehicles, a Cadillac, which had the trunk open. (T 26-27, 35-38; Vol. V) These two male individuals, according to Officer Neff, then ran towards Tabbins Street and across in front of the Chevron store following the first male suspect. (T 27-28; Vo. V) It was at his point, according to Officer Neff, that the two male individuals ran back behind the Chevron store, followed by one of the male individuals running into the woods and the Petitioner getting into a small green Ford vehicle. (T 28-29; Vo. V) As the Petitioner in the Ford vehicle proceeded on to Tabbins Street, the vehicle began to slow down as Officer Neff maintained her pursuit. (T 29-30; Vol. V) Officer Neff's additionally testified that she next observed the Petitioner exit the driver's side door of the vehicle, while the vehicle continued to roll forward, pinning him between the hedge as he ran in front of the vehicle. (T 30; Vol. V)

Officer Neff ordered the male individual to "stay down," but he attempted to wiggle free. (T 30-31; Vol. V)

Just as the Petitioner continued to wiggle out from the vehicle, Officer Neff grabbed his shoulder while he grabbed her arm. (T 31; Vol. V) Officer Neff additionally testified that they were standing face-to-face at this point and continued to wrestle as they both eventually broke away from each other. (T 31-32; Vol. V) Officer Neff then again attempted to get a hold of the Petitioner by grabbing onto his jacket, but he wiggled free from his jacket and took off into a wooded area. (T 31-32; Vol. V)

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