### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LEROY B. REEVES,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. SC06-504

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

\_/

## MERITS BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARY G. JOLLEY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar No. 0080454

KELLIE A. NIELAN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar No. 618550

444 Seabreeze Boulevard Fifth Floor Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (386) 238-4990 (386) 238-4997 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

##

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should adopt the rationale of Reeves v. State, 920 So.2d 724 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006), and find that a trial court can lawfully impose a PRR sentence and a non-PRR criminal punishment code sentence consecutively for offenses that arise out of the same criminal episode. Because a PRR sentence is a statutory maximum sentence, not a sentence enhancement such as a habitual offender sentence, this Court need not follow its prior decisions in Hale v. State, 630 So.2d 521 (Fla. 1993), cert. denied, 513 U.S. 909 (1994), and Daniels v. State, 595 So.2d 952 (Fla. 1992). Also, Reeves could have lawfully received four consecutive sentences without the PRR designation, even if his four convictions arose out of the same criminal episode. Nonetheless, the facts support the conclusion of both the trial court and the district court that Reeves engaged in two separate episodes as the crimes occurred in different locations and had different victims.

#### ARGUMENT

REEVES WAS PROPERLY SENTENCED AS A PRISON RELEASEE REOFFENDER FOLLOWED BY CONSECUTIVE TERMS FOR HIS REMAINING OFFENSES.

At issue before this Court is whether a trial court may impose a non-prison releasee reoffender sentence consecutive to a prison releasee reoffender ("PRR") sentence. Reeves received a twenty year sentence for four third degree felonies: a five year sentence as a PRR for his resisting a law enforcement officer with violence conviction, followed by three consecutive terms of five years imprisonment for his convictions for burglary, grand theft, and battery on a law enforcement officer. Reeves filed a motion to correct pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(a), arguing the consecutive sentences were illegal because they arose from a single criminal episode. <u>Reeves v. State</u>, 920 So.2d 724, 725 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006).

Affirming the denial of his motion, the Fifth District Court of Appeal held that a PRR sentence, followed by a consecutive criminal punishment code sentence not otherwise enhanced beyond the statutory maximum, is not an illegal sentence, even when the crimes arise from the same criminal episode.<sup>1</sup> <u>Id.</u> at 726. In reaching this conclusion, the court certified conflict with Rodriguez v.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The court also concluded that Reeves did engage in two criminal episodes, with the burglary and grand theft being one incident, and the resisting arrest and battery on a law enforcement officer being a separate criminal episode. <u>Id.</u> at 725. The court then added that this conclusion did not change the result. Id.

<u>State</u>, 883 So.2d 908 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004). <u>Reeves</u>, 920 So.2d at 726. In <u>Rodriguez</u>, the Second District Court of Appeal held that this type of consecutive sentences, which arose from the same criminal episode and together exceeded the maximum incarceration period for any individual count under the PRR Act, was illegal.<sup>2</sup> <u>Rodriguez</u>, 883 So.2d at 909-910.

The State contends that this Court should adopt the rationale of <u>Reeves</u>, and reject <u>Rodriguez</u>, as the imposition of a PRR sentence followed by consecutive non-PRR sentences, which together do not exceed the statutory maximum, is legal under the Florida Statutes and consistent with the intent of the PRR Act.

The PRR Act is codified at section 775.082(9)(a)1 of the Florida Statutes (1998 Supp.). The PRR Act provides that a person who commits certain enumerated felonies under that statute within three years of being released from a state correctional facility is a prison releasee reoffender. <u>See</u> section 775.082(9)(a)1, Fla. Stat. (1998 Supp.). The prosecutor may seek to have a defendant sentenced as a PRR and upon a showing by a preponderance of the evidence that the defendant is eligible, the trial court must impose the statutory maximum sentence for the enumerated felony. Section 775.082(9)(a)2, Fla. Stat. (1998 Supp.). That person will

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Interestingly, without the PRR designation, Rodriguez could have been sentenced to twenty years for his four third degree felony convictions. With the PRR designation, the district court concluded that he could receive only a five year sentence. <u>Rodriguez</u>, 883 So.2d at 909-910.

serve 100% of his or her sentence and not be eligible for parole, control release, or any form of early release. Section 775.082(9)(b), Fla. Stat. (1998 Supp.). The purpose of this section is to provide uniform punishment for those crimes made punishable under this section. Section 775.082(10), Fla. Stat. (1998 Supp.).

This Court has stated that the purpose of this statute is clear and, unlike the habitual offender and habitual felony offender statutes, "where invoked, [the PRR Act] is intended to operate as a mandatory minimum statute." <u>See State v. Cotton</u>, 769 So.2d 345, 350 (Fla. 2000). The PRR Act does not increase the maximum statutory penalty; instead, the discretion of the sentencing court in selecting a penalty within the statutory range is limited. <u>McGregor v. State</u>, 789 So.2d 976, 978 (Fla. 2001). <u>See also Kijewski v. State</u>, 773 So.2d 124, 125 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000), <u>rev. denied</u>, 790 So.2d 1105 (Fla. 2001), <u>cert. denied</u>, 536 U.S. 961 (2002)(PRR Act did not increase the statutory maximum penalty).

Reeves's claim that he could not receive consecutive sentences hinges on two points. He argues first that he engaged in one criminal episode<sup>3</sup> and as a result, he could only be sentenced to four concurrent terms because a PRR sentence is an enhancement sentence. Thus, according to Reeves, under this Court's decisions

 $<sup>^3</sup>$  Respondent contends that the district court did properly find that Reeves engaged in two criminal episodes. See discussion infra, pp. 14-17.

in Hale v. State, 630 So.2d 521 (Fla. 1993), cert. denied, 513 U.S. 909 (1994) and Daniels v. State, 595 So.2d 952 (Fla. 1992), consecutive sentences are illegal.

The only case which supports Reeves's position is <u>Rodriguez</u>. The flaw in both Reeves's argument and in <u>Rodriguez</u> rests on the premise that a PRR sentence constitutes an enhanced sentence, like that of a habitual offender sentence. Based upon that premise, Reeves, relying upon <u>Rodriguez</u>, looks to <u>Hale</u> and <u>Daniels</u> as the bases for the conclusion that a PRR sentence cannot be imposed with a consecutive criminal punishment code sentence.

A plain reading of <u>Daniels</u> and <u>Hale</u><sup>4</sup>, both of which came out well before the PRR Act, lends support for the conclusion that the consecutive terms can be imposed in this case because a PRR sentence is not an enhanced sentence, but a maximum minimum mandatory sentence. Thus, <u>Rodriguez</u> erred in expanding <u>Daniels</u> and <u>Hale</u> to apply in PRR cases where the aggregate consecutive sentences imposed do not exceed the statutory maximum.<sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Daniels and <u>Hale</u> have been applied to prohibit consecutive PRR sentences arising from the same criminal episode by the First, Second, Third, Fourth, and Fifth District Courts of Appeal. <u>See e.g.</u>, <u>Robinson v. State</u>, 829 So.2d 984 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002); <u>Smith v. State</u>, 824 So.2d 263 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002), <u>Gonzalez v.</u> <u>State</u>, 876 So.2d 658 (Fla. 3d DCA 2004), <u>Philmore v. State</u>, 760 So.2d 239 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000); and <u>Williams v. State</u>, 804 So.2d 572 (Fla. 5th DCA), <u>cause dismissed</u>, 829 So.2d 921 (Fla. 2002). Consecutive PRR sentences were not imposed here.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> <u>Rodriguez</u> followed <u>Kiedrowski v. State</u>, 876 So.2d 692 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004) and <u>Fuller v. State</u>, 867 So.2d 469 (Fla. 5th DCA), rev. dismissed, 887 So.2d 1236 (Fla. 2004), both of which addressed

In Daniels, this Court, analyzing the habitual offender statutes, struck down the imposition of consecutive minimum In doing so, this Court noted that by mandatory sentences. enacting the habitual offender sentencing scheme, the Legislature intended to provide for the incarceration of repeat felony offenders for longer periods of time. Daniels, 595 So.2d at 954. This Court continued, "However, this is accomplished by enlargement of the maximum sentence that can be imposed when a defendant is found to be an habitual felon or an habitual violent felon." Id. (emphasis added). Thus, under the habitual offender sentencing schemes, the sentences are enlarged. For instance, a habitual felon convicted of a third degree felony can be sentenced to up to ten years imprisonment, an additional five years longer than the statutory maximum for a third degree felony. See section 775.084, Fla. Stat. (1998 Supp.).

In <u>Hale</u>, this Court further explained that the legislative intent of the habitual offender statute is satisfied when the maximum sentence for each offense is increased. <u>Hale</u>, 630 So.2d at

the legality of the imposition of a consecutive sentence following the imposition of a habitual offender sentence. <u>Kiedrowski</u> and <u>Fuller</u> applied and properly followed <u>Hale</u>. However, neither case addressed the propriety of a consecutive sentence imposed with a PRR sentence. <u>Rodriguez</u> fails to distinguish a PRR sentence from a habitual offender sentence, which the district court did below here. <u>Compare Reeves</u>, 920 So.2d at 725-726 and <u>Rodriguez</u>, 883 So.2d at 909-910. An analysis of the differences in these sentencing schemes proves that <u>Rodriguez</u> is legally incorrect and should be disapproved.

524. Thus, when the maximum sentence is enlarged or enhanced under the habitual offender sentencing statute, nothing in that statute permits a further increase by ordering the sentences to run consecutively. <u>Id.</u>

The crux of both Daniels and Hale is that the habitual offender sentencing statute did not create a minimum mandatary sentence, it enlarged that maximum sentence beyond the statutory maximum for a qualifying offense. Thus, the habitual offender sentence differs from "statutory sentences in which the legislature had included a minimum mandatory sentence, such as the sentences for capital crimes, from sentences in which there is no minimum mandatory penalty although one may be provided as an enhancement through the habitual violent offender statute." Id. (citing Daniels, 595 So.2d at 954).

In other words, the "whole point in <u>Hale</u> is that once the habitual offender sentencing scheme is utilized to enhance a sentence beyond the statutory maximum on one or more counts arising from a single criminal episode, consecutive sentencing may not be used to further lengthen the overall sentence." <u>Reeves</u>,920 So.2d at 726 (quoting <u>Fuller</u>, 867 So.2d at 570). Thus, <u>Hale</u> and <u>Daniels</u> address an entirely different sentencing scheme.<u>See id.</u> ("The rule established in <u>Hale</u> and <u>Daniels</u> applies to sentences that have been <u>enhanced</u> beyond the statutory maximum. A PRR sentence is not enhanced beyond the statutory maximum. Consequently, we conclude

that the rule established in <u>Hale</u> and <u>Daniels</u> has no application here")(emphasis in original).

To that end, as the district court noted below, a PRR sentence is not enhanced beyond the statutory maximum. Rather, the PRR statute establishes that the only lawful sentence for a PRR offender is the statutory maximum, which must be served in its entirety. <u>Reeves</u>, 920 So.2d at 726. Thus, a PRR sentence is properly viewed as a minimum mandatory sentence, which establishes a sentencing floor. <u>Powell v. State</u>, 881 So.2d 1180, 1182 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004).

Outside the habitual offender context, this Court has similarly upheld the imposition of consecutive minimum mandatory sentences. See State v. Boatwright, 559 So.2d 210, 211-213 (Fla. 1990)(trial court can impose consecutive minimum mandatory sentences for two crimes of sexual battery committed during a single criminal episode as the minimum mandatory term was statutorily required); State v. Enmund, 476 So.2d 165, 168 (Fla. 1985)(minimum mandatory sentence for capital felony to be served before eligibility for parole may be imposed either concurrently or consecutively in the discretion of the trial court). Compare Boler v. State, 678 So.2d 319, 322-323 (Fla. 1996)(a minimum mandatory sentence contained in an enhancement statute and a statutorily minimum mandatory sentence required cannot be imposed consecutively). See also Talley v. State, 877 So.2d 840, 841-842

(Fla. 4th DCA 2004)(statute prescribing penalty for certain offenses against law enforcement officers included minimum mandatory term and could be imposed consecutively). In all, the holdings of <u>Reeves</u> and <u>Powell</u> are actually consistent with, not contrary to, <u>Hale</u> and <u>Daniels</u>. <u>Cf. Kelly v. State</u>, 924 So.2d 69, 70-71 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006)(under the <u>Daniels/Hale</u> analysis, trial court could impose consecutive sentences for conspiracy and trafficking arising from same criminal episode as statute provided for minimum mandatory term and was not an enhancement statute).

Reeves's argument that he could be sentenced to only concurrent terms of five years for all four offenses because he was a PRR defies logic. Without the PRR finding, Reeves cannot dispute that he could have been sentenced to the statutory maximum of five years for all four convictions to run consecutively for a total twenty year sentence, even if said offenses were a part of the same criminal episode. <u>See</u> section 921.16, Fla. Stat. (1997). Accordingly, even if Reeves were correct in his assertion that his convictions arose from the same criminal episode, consecutive sentences can be imposed as the district court held below. <u>Reeves</u>, 920 So.2d at 725.

Section 775.082(9)(d)1 specifically states, "It is the intent of the Legislature that offenders previously released from prison who meet the criteria in paragraph (a) be punished to the fullest extent of the law . . ." The intent of the Legislature to provide

a minimum mandatory term of imprisonment pursuant to the PRR Act and to allow for the imposition of the greatest sentence authorized by law is clear. <u>Grant v. State</u>, 770 So.2d 655, 659 (Fla. 2000). Failure to impose the minimum mandatory and give a qualifying defendant the greatest punishment defeats the intent of the PRR Act, resulting in a reversible error. Id. (citations omitted).

Under Reeves's argument, he should only receive a five year prison term because he was sentenced as a PRR, when he could have been sentenced to twenty years without that designation. Correspondingly then if Reeves had been convicted of four first degree felonies subjecting him to a maximum sentence of 120 years because he was a PRR, he could only be sentenced to thirty years. This construction is flatly contrary to the stated intent of the Legislature that such offenders should be punished to the fullest extent of the law, and should be rejected. See e.g., Ellis v. State, 622 So.2d 991, 1001 (Fla. 1993)(for a court to hold otherwise would make the obvious mandate of the legislature subservient to the discretion of the court) and City of Tampa v. Thatcher Glass Corp., 445 So.2d 578, 579 (Fla. 1984)(the cardinal rule of statutory construction is that a statute should be construed to give effect to the intention the legislature expressed in the statute).

Without the PRR finding, Reeves could have received the same sentence, a sentence that did not exceed the statutory maximum, and

was not illegal. <u>Reeves</u>, 920 So.2d at 727. Also, with the PRR mandatory minimum sentence followed by the consecutive criminal punishment code sentences, Reeves would still be entitled to gain time once the PRR sentence has been served.<sup>6</sup> <u>See Powell</u>, 881 So.2d at 1182 (to preserve entitlement to any possible early release that may apply to non-PRR sentence, the defendant must be allowed to serve the PRR sentence first). In all, the result is that Reeves will not serve a sentence any longer than authorized by law and that sentence fulfills the intent of the Legislature that qualifying offenders be punished to the "fullest extent of the law,' including the imposition of a mandatory minimum sentence." <u>Grant</u>, 770 So.2d at 659 (holding that defendant can be sentenced to mandatory minimum PRR sentence concurrent with a longer habitual offender sentence).

This conclusion does not change, as the district court determined below, with the determination that the four offenses Reeves committed were a part of two criminal episodes or one criminal episode. <u>See</u> section 921.16, Fla. Stat. (1997). Accordingly, even if this were the same criminal episode, consecutive sentences can be imposed as the district court held below. Reeves, 920 So.2d at 725.

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